FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 9/4/2019 2:24 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/5/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. <u>97616-3</u> COURT OF APPEALS NO. <u>77175-2-I</u>

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Petitioner,
V.
WILLIAM L. PHILLIP JR.,
Respondent.
PETITION FOR REVIEW

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

JAMES M. WHISMAN Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Petitioner

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. FACTUAL BACKGROUND AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY.

This case is on interlocutory review pending re-trial of William Phillip for the murder of Seth Frankel. Phillip's first conviction was reversed after the Court of Appeals held that probable cause was not established to search cell phone tower records held by Phillip's cellular

service provider. The facts of the crime are detailed in the first Court of Appeals decision. State v. Phillip, No. 72120-8-I (Wash. Ct. App. Div. I, Aug. 29, 2016) (unpublished) (hereinafter, Phillip I). The more recent procedural history is described in the Court of Appeals decision issued this month. State v. Phillip, No. 77175-2-I, slip op. (Wash. Ct. App. Div. I, Aug. 5, 2019) (hereinafter Phillip II).

In short, Phillip was convicted of killing Frankel, a man he had never met, simply because Frankel was dating a woman Phillip was interested in romantically. Phillip lived in Portland, Oregon and Frankel lived in Auburn, Washington. Based on evidence showing Phillip had animosity towards Frankel, police obtained a warrant for cell tower information because, based on their investigation, they believed such information would show that Phillip drove from Portland to Auburn on the night of the crime. Phillip's DNA was later found at the crime scene and Phillip was charged with Frankel's murder.

While the case was pending trial, prosecutors sought a second warrant for the tower records because they were concerned that the affidavit seeking the first warrant had not included sufficient details – known to police at the time, but not included in the affidavit – and might

- 3 -

¹ http://www.courts.wa.gov/opinions/pdf721208.pdf.

not survive a legal challenge. The second warrant was signed. The trial court judge in the first trial agreed that the second warrant for the tower records established probable cause and that police had satisfied the independent source doctrine in obtaining it. Phillip was thereafter convicted of Frankel's murder.

The conviction was overturned by the Court of Appeals, however, on the basis that the combined information contained in the two tower records warrants did not establish probable cause to believe that Phillip had committed the murder. Phillip I, at 12. Still, the appellate court affirmed other aspects of the case, including the finding that police had not chosen to search the tower records based on the results of the first warrant; rather, the police had independently decided to seek those records based on facts known at the time of the warrant. The matter was remanded for retrial. Id.

2. PROCEEDINGS ON REMAND AFTER FIRST REVERSAL

The case was assigned to a new judge for retrial. The State again sought judicial authorization to obtain the tower records, but this time the State urged the court to consider the entire, untainted body of information available to police at the time of the investigation, rather than simply the more limited scope of information that had been included in the two

previous affidavits for the tower records. This information was contained in three additional sworn search warrant affidavits.

Because the search issues had already been litigated on appeal and were likely to be challenged after any new judicial authorization, and because trial proceedings were on-going and Phillip was represented by counsel, the State asked the trial court to authorize seizure of the records using the mechanism of a court-ordered subpoena duces tecum rather than a search warrant. This approach would allow all issues to be litigated at once, rather than proceeding first to obtain a warrant ex parte, and then litigating the propriety of that warrant. RP (6/26/17) 7 and RP (7/24/17) 37-38. However, the State urged the court to apply the same probable cause standard that would be required for a search warrant. RP (7/24/17) 38. Defense counsel never argued that the State must use a search warrant instead of a subpoena or that the application for a subpoena needed to better describe the connection between the crime and the tower records.

See RP (7/24/17) 44-51.

The trial court "committed a significant amount of time" to reviewing all the submissions and reading all the case law. RP (7/24/17) 60. It ruled that there was probable cause to believe Phillip had committed murder and that police were motivated to seek the latest judicially-authorized subpoena independent of the information contained in the

Duces Tecum, dated July 25, 2017). The court expressly did *not* consider the contents of the tower records that had been returned following the first warrant in making its probable cause determination. CP 142 (lines 7-8) ("This Court does not consider the cell phone location records previously obtained by the State via an invalid warrant."). As to whether the State properly sought a judicially authorized subpoena rather than a search warrant, the trial court's order provides: "...the State has very specifically requested that this Court apply a probable cause analysis to its request for a subpoena." CP 142 (bold in original). Phillip did not challenge the mechanism for obtaining judicial authorization and never argued that evidence of his location would not be found in the tower records, so the trial court made no findings on those points.

3. INTERLOCUTORY REVIEW.

Phillip sought discretionary review of the court's ruling, arguing that he had a constitutionally-protected interest in tower records and that the court had erred by authorizing a subpoena for those records. Motion for Discretionary Review at 4-10. The motion did not include the argument that the State was required to have used a search warrant rather than a judicially-authorized subpoena to obtain these records. The trial court certified that there was a controlling question of law presented in its

ruling, but did not identify the "controlling question of law." CP 147-48. The State answered the motion by arguing that, for purposes of defending the trial court's order, it was not challenging whether he had a constitutionally-protected interest in tower records. Answer to Motion for Discretionary Review at 7-8. It argued that the trial court had simply applied settled law regarding independent source doctrine to the facts of this case. <u>Id.</u> at 8. A commissioner granted the motion for discretionary review. The State moved to modify that ruling or, in the alternative, to clarify the issues that were presented for review. The motion to modify was denied and the matter proceeded to briefing.

In his merits briefing, Phillip asserted for the first time on appeal that the trial court may have erred by assuming that he did not have a constitutionally-protected interest in cell tower records. Brief of Appellant at 13. The bulk of his brief, however, argued that the independent source doctrine was not constitutionally sound, did not apply to his situation, that the trial court had misapplied the doctrine, and / or that the Court of Appeals should reconsider its application of the doctrine to his case. Brief of Appellant at 14-36. He then argued for the first time on appeal that the subpoena request was improper because it was not supported by sworn declarations. Brief of Appellant at 39-40.

The State responded to each of these arguments. It noted that the trial court rulings were plainly based on the constitutional doctrine; the court did not presume that Phillip had a lesser right in tower records.

Brief of Resp. at 35-36. The State pointed out that the subpoena-versus-warrant issue had never been raised in the motion for discretionary review and was, thus, beyond the scope of review, but it also noted that this Court's decisions plainly gave courts authority to use a subpoena instead of a warrant. Brief of Resp. at 36-37.

The Court of Appeals issued a published decision that did not address the independent source doctrine.² Instead, the court adopted the holding of <u>Carpenter v. United States</u>, ___ U.S. ___, 138 S. Ct. 2206, 201 L. Ed. 2d 507 (2018), which made clear that people have a reasonable expectation of privacy in tower records. The trial court's ruling presumed that Phillip had a constitutionally-protected right in tower records and the State never contested that issue on appeal.³ Thus, the Court of Appeals holding on this point is not raised in this petition for review.

-

² The court filed an opinion on July 1, 2019 and the State filed a petition for review on July 30, 2019. On August 5, 2019, the court entered an order withdrawing the July 1st opinion and replacing it with a new published decision. This petition seeks review of the decision filed on August 5th. The new opinion added footnotes 2, 9, and 10.

³ Whether a person has an expectation of privacy in tower records was first raised by one of the Court of Appeals judges in the first appeal in a question to defense counsel at oral argument. The State raised the argument on remand to preserve any possible arguments with respect to that issue. However, the State expressly abandoned any such argument in

The Court of Appeals decision then effectively overruled several prior decisions of this Court that had allowed investigators to obtain constitutionally protected evidence using judicially-authorized subpoenas or court orders, instead of seeking a search warrant. Phillip II, slip op. at 14-15. The court believed that this holding was compelled by Carpenter: "Under the Supreme Court's recent decision in Carpenter, an individual maintains an expectation of privacy in CSLI records, and the way to obtain such records is through a warrant." Slip op. at 10. This argument was raised by the judges for the first time at oral argument. The State addressed the judges' concern by noting that Carpenter had disapproved of a subpoena process that would allow tower records to be shared on a showing of less than probable cause. The Court of Appeals responded to this oral argument in its decision by saying that Carpenter demands a warrant under all circumstances. Slip op. at 15.

The court's opinion also faulted the State for materials it submitted in support of the subpoena because the State did not shield the court from the contents of the improperly obtained records. Slip op. at 7.4 Although

1;

light of <u>Carpenter</u>. Brief of Resp. at 35, n.7. <u>See also</u> Answer to Motion for Discretionary Review at 7-8.

⁴ This issue was not raised as an assignment of error by the appellant, but it was the subject of persistent questioning at oral argument, and the language and underlining appearing on page 7 of the published opinion appears critical of the State's approach.

the opinion suggests that the court was not reversing on this basis, the language and styling of the opinion will likely suggest otherwise to courts and litigants. Slip op. at 17, n.10.

Finally, the Court of Appeals held that the trial court's subpoena must be vacated because the State had failed to "connect the facts known to the State to the need for Phillip's [tower] records" and because "the trial court's order also failed to include any particularized finding of what fact supported a conclusion that the State had met its probable cause burden for Phillip's cell phone records." Slip op. at 16. The Court of Appeals also held that the trial court had failed to make a "particularized finding" as to that connection. Slip op. at 16 ("To be constitutionally valid, a warrant must not only be supported by probable cause but it must also specifically tie the facts known to the State to the specific evidence it seeks to obtain.").⁵

D. REASONS REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED AND ARGUMENT

This Court may review a decision of the Court of Appeals that conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court or another appellate court, that involves a significant question of law under the Constitution of the

- 10 -

⁵ Phillip had not raised these arguments in his Motion for Discretionary Review or in his briefing.

State of Washington or the United States, or that involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b)(1) - (4). This case meets all those criteria on several issues.

First, the Court of Appeals was mistaken that <u>Carpenter</u> demands a search warrant for all searches. Such a holding conflicts with several prior decisions of this Court and with Washington court rules, it places form over substance, and it will sow confusion in the law as to whether courts can still rely on this Court's prior decisions. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Second, the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's subpoena because its order "failed to include any particularized finding" of what fact supported a conclusion that the State was entitled to tower records. No such "particularized finding" is required under the law for search warrants. Moreover, the absence of such a "finding" is plainly harmless here, where it is obvious that cell tower records were sought because they would reveal whether Phillip was near the scene of Frankel's murder. This new requirement conflicts with existing Washington law and its application was flawed. Review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), (4).

Third, the Court of Appeals erroneously held that the trial court had imposed a non-constitutional standard to Phillip's arguments. This is simply mistaken. The trial court plainly applied a constitutional standard.

Fourth, the Court of Appeals erred in suggesting the State should not have told the trial court judge what the tower records showed.

1. THE DECISION BELOW EFFECTIVELY
OVERRULES SEVERAL OF THIS COURT'S PRIOR
DECISIONS BASED ON A FAULTY
INTERPRETATION OF CARPENTER V. U.S.

This Court has held several times that constitutionally-protected material can be obtained through judicial authorization as long as the authorization meets the standards applied to search warrants. The Court of Appeals held that these decisions cannot stand in light of a recent decision from the United States Supreme Court. This holding is erroneous and will sow confusion as to the mechanism for obtaining judicial authorization of constitutionally-protected materials.

In <u>State v. Garcia-Salgado</u>, 170 Wn.2d 176, 240 P.3d 153 (2010), this Court held that the taking of DNA could be authorized by a court order as long as the order met the standards applied to search warrants. The holding was very particular.

While a cheek swab for DNA is a search and requires a warrant absent the existence of an exception, the warrant requirement of the Fourth Amendment and article I, section 7 may be satisfied by a court order. Normally, a warrant in Washington State is issued under CrR 2.3, but neither the state constitution nor the federal constitution limits warrants to only those issued under CrR 2.3. A court order may function as a warrant as long as it meets constitutional requirements.

Garcia-Salgado, 170 Wn.2d at 186. Similarly, in State v. Reeder, this Court held that "[o]ur cases have found that the authority of law to collect private records encompasses more than a warrant based on probable cause." 184 Wn.2d 805, 817, 365 P.3d 1243 (2015). In State v. Miles, this Court noted no distinction between the mechanism of a search warrant or subpoena as long as a neutral magistrate supplied the authority of law. 160 Wn.2d 236, 247, 156 P.3d 864 (2007). In State v. Maxfield, this Court held that "authority of law includes legal process such as a search warrant or subpoena." 133 Wn.2d 332, 342, 945 P.2d 196 (1997). In State v. Gunwall, this Court held that "[t]he 'authority of law' required by Const. art. I, § 7 in order to obtain records includes authority granted by a valid, (i.e., constitutional) statute, the common law or a rule of this court." 106 Wn.2d 54, 68-69, 720 P.2d 808 (1986).

The decision of the Court of Appeals in this case calls these holdings into question on the basis of Carpenter v. United States, ____ U.S. ____, 138 S. Ct. 2206, 201 L. Ed. 2d 507 (2018). Phillip II, slip op. at 14-15. Carpenter does not overrule this Court's prior decisions. The Supreme Court simply disapproved in that case of an authorization for 127 days of cellular tower data that had been obtained by investigators under the authority of a statute *that did not require a finding of probable cause*. Carpenter, at 2221 ("...we also conclude that the Government must

generally obtain a warrant supported by probable cause before acquiring such records."). When the Court later said that police must "get a warrant," it was simply a short-hand way of saying that police must obtain judicial authorization that meets warrant requirements. It was not asked to hold, nor did it hold, that other warrant-like mechanisms such as a judicially authorized subpoena or court order are forbidden.

This poses significant constitutional issues. Law enforcement officers and prosecutors must know whether they can still rely on this Court's precedents or whether they can now only seek judicial authorization to seize constitutionally protected evidence by using a search warrant. Similarly, criminal defendants – who cannot obtain a search warrant – must know whether there is still a mechanism for them to obtain and use at trial evidence shielded by the constitutional protected privacy interests of others. The conflict among these precedents on such important constitutional issues requires review by this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), and (4).

-

⁶ For example, in embezzlement cases it is not uncommon for the defendant to seek the bank records of the victim or a third party. Similarly, defendants commonly seek the medical and mental health records of victims in violent and sex crime cases. These victims or third parties have a reasonable expectation of privacy in the information in the records. If these types of records can only be obtained via a search warrant and cannot be obtained via a judicially authorized subpoena or a court order – as the Court of Appeals has now held – then there is no mechanism for a criminal defendant to obtain such evidence because defendants cannot request a search warrant. CrR 2.3(a).

2. THE DECISION BELOW CREATES A
"PARTICULARIZED FINDING" REQUIREMENT FOR
WARRANTS THAT DOES NOT EXIST UNDER
CURRENT LAW

The Court of Appeals opinion faults both the State and the trial court for not being more particularized. Neither criticism is justified.

The State agrees that to obtain judicial authorization for a search "there must be a clear indication that the desired evidence will be found."
State v. Garcia-Salgado, 170 Wn.2d at 186. The Court of Appeals faulted the State because it did not "connect the facts known to the State to the need for Phillip's [tower] records." Slip op. at 16. But the connection between this murder and the tower records is obvious. Phillip lived in Portland and Frankel lived in Auburn. If there was probable cause based on all the available evidence to believe that Phillip committed the murder, then the tower data would produce further evidence, as that data would have recorded the movements of Phillip's phone on the relevant date. There is no requirement that such an obvious connection be expressly stated in an affidavit.

Moreover, the Court of Appeals held that the order authorizing the State to obtain the tower records was deficient because the trial court did not *expressly* say which facts supported its conclusion that the tower records would reveal evidence of a crime. This holding is highly

problematic. There is currently no requirement in the law that a search warrant or judicial order *explain* the reviewing magistrate's reasoning. There is no legal requirement that magistrates enter formal findings of fact and conclusions of law. Indeed, each of the search warrants in this case, like all search warrants, simply orders the target to be searched based on the information provided in the affidavit. The holdings of the Court of Appeals on these points create a requirement that is found nowhere in existing law.

3. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE TRIAL COURT APPLIED AN IMPROPER STANDARD.

The Court of Appeals held that the trial court had applied a lower standard to tower records. Slip op. at 14 (quoting the language "[o]ne could certainly hold that Mr. Phillip's expectation of privacy in his personal cell phone and apartment is higher than his expectation of privacy in the historic cell tower location records"). Id. It later held that this lower standard, coupled with the alleged failure to make a "particularized finding" discussed above, required reversal. The Court of Appeals was mistaken about the nature of the trial court's ruling because it failed to consider how the quoted language fit into the trial court's order.

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