FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/23/2019 4:26 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Replaces answer filed on 10/15/19

Supreme Court No. 97616-3 (COA No. 77175-2-I) Corrected copy

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

WILLIAM PHILLIP, JR.,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

Corrected ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW AND CROSS-PETITION

NANCY P. COLLINS Attorney for Respondent/Cross-Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

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

E. ARGUMENT.

- 1. The Court of Appeals appropriately reviewed the prosecution's unprecedented efforts to escape the ramifications of multiple illegal searches. The decision below does not meet the criteria for review.
 - a. The prosecution concocted of a novel method for obtaining previously suppressed private information that the Court of Appeals appropriately rejected.

After the Court of Appeals remanded the case to the trial court in 2016 following two failed warrants for cell phone records, the prosecution requested the court issue a subpoena that would authorize the State to seize the same records that the Court of Appeals had ruled were illegally obtained and ordered suppressed under the exclusionary rule of article I, section 7. CP 132, 137.

The exclusionary rule is a "constitutionally mandated" dictate requiring suppression of illegally obtained evidence. *State v. Winterstein*, 167 Wn.2d 620, 632, 635, 220 P.3d 1226 (2009); *see also Mayfield*, 192 Wn.2d at 883 (explaining state has "independent exclusionary rule that broadly protects the right to individual privacy").

In order for the State to re-seize illegally obtained and suppressed private materials, it was imperative for the prosecution to prove that its new intrusion into Mr. Phillip's private affairs was wholly and "genuinely" independent of the prior illegality. *Mayfield*, 192 Wn.2d at 883.

The prosecution called its request for Mr. Phillip's suppressed cell phone records a "subpoena" rather than a search warrant. CP 29. It told the court Mr. Phillip "does not have a privacy interest" in the cell phone records it sought. CP 45. It argued it did not need judicial authorization or probable cause to obtain these records. CP 45-47. It claimed it had "probable cause" for obtaining these records even though it did not need it. CP 45, 47, 49. It did not present an affidavit or sworn testimony to the judge as would occur under the requirements of a search warrant. It supplied the judge with a host of previously issued search warrants that cited to and relied on the illegally obtained cell phone data. CP 29-111.

The Court of Appeals took issue with several aspects of the prosecution's behavior in the trial court. The prosecutor mispresented the earlier Court of Appeals opinion to the trial judge, a judge who had not previously been involved in the case and had no familiarity with the prior proceedings. Slip op. at 8. The prosecution wrote a memorandum in support of the opinion that quoted at length the illegally seized records. Slip. op. at 16. The prosecution argued that cell phone records are subject to a lesser degree of privacy protections than other private affairs. Slip op. at 8. The prosecution's subpoena attached a litany of improperly obtained

information but no sworn statement explaining the basis of the warrant. Slip op. at 14-16.

b. The subpoena sought by the prosecution did not comply with this Court's required protections necessary to allow the State authority to invade a person's private affairs.

The petition for review is simply incorrect in claiming the Court of Appeals opinion is contrary to other decisions that permit the State to use subpoenas to invade a person's private affairs. If a subpoena, rather than a warrant, is the authority of law to search a person's private affairs, it must meet the legal requirements for a search akin to a warrant. Slip op. at 15, citing *State v. Garcia-Salgado*, 170 Wn.2d 176, 183, 240 P.3d 153 (2010).

The Court of Appeals did not rule that subpoenas may never be used as a mechanism to obtain authority to invade a person's private affairs. Instead, it said that under *Garcia-Salgado*, any court order used in place of a warrant to obtain constitutionally protected materials must "meet[] constitutional requirements." Slip op. at 15, *quoting Garcia-Salgado*, 170 Wn.2d at 186.

As the Court of Appeals explained, in *Garcia-Salgado* this Court held that if a court order is used to seize constitutionally protected private information, the order:

must be entered by a neutral and detached magistrate, must describe the place to be searched and items to be seized; and must be supported by probable cause based on oath or affirmation, and there must be a clear indication that the desired evidence will be found, the method of intrusion must be reasonable, and the intrusion must be performed in a reasonable manner.

Slip op. at 15-16, quoting Garcia-Salgado, 170 Wn.2d at 186.

Here, the prosecution did not meet the requirements set forth in *Garcia-Salgado*. The Court of Appeals found this error fatal. The petition for review does not explain that it actually met these requirements, but rather complains about any requirements being imposed on its subpoena request.

In *Garcia-Salgado*, a prosecutor asked a judge for a court order that the defendant submit to a DNA test during a pending prosecution. 170 Wn.2d at 181. The prosecutor based its request on inaccurate information that was not under oath. Id. at 170 n.3, 188. This Court ruled that when using a court order to obtain a person's constitutionally protected private information, that order must meet all essential requirements of a search warrant, including being based on a sworn affidavit that contains the basis for the search and the limitations of the search. *Id.* at 188-89.

Similarly, in *State v. Miles*, 160 Wn.2d 236, 247, 156 P.3d 864 (2007), this Court rejected an administrative subpoena used to obtain bank records. A "[w]arrant application" limits governmental invasion into private affairs because it "ensures" a court has limited the "scope of the

invasion" to that which is "authorized by the authority of law." *Id.* And while a special inquiry judge's subpoena to seize bank records on less than probable cause was allowed in *State v. Reeder*, 184 Wn.2d 805, 818, 365 P.3d 1243 (2015), this limited subpoena authority applied only where no charges had been filed. *Id.* at 818-19, 822-23 (noting limits and protections of special inquiry judge subpoena proceedings). *Reeder* does not direct courts to issue subpoenas as opposed to warrants as a matter of general practice in pending criminal cases. *Id.* at 824.

Here, the prosecution cited CrR 4.8 and RCW 10.96 as authority of law to issue a subpoena. CP 29, 41-42; CP 140 (court's order). However, CrR 4.8(b)(5) says any subpoena request is subject to "privacy protections" under "other applicable law." RCW 10.96 authorizes a court to grant an application for "criminal process" involving records, but defines "criminal process" as "a search warrant or legal process" issued under statutory authority. RCW 10.96.010(3) (defining criminal process); RCW 10.96.060 (giving court authority to issue criminal process).

In the context of searching a cell phone and its data, it is undisputable that the warrant requirement applies under the Fourth Amendment and article I, section 7. *Riley v. California*, 573 U.S. 373, 401, 134 S. Ct. 2473, 189 L. Ed. 2d 430 (2014); *Carpenter v. United States*,

585 U.S. _, 138 S. Ct. 2206, 2221, 201 L. Ed. 2d 507 (2018); *State v*. *Hinton*, 179 Wn.2d 862, 871-72, 874, 319 P.3d 9 (2014); *see also State v*. *Keodara*, 191 Wn. App. 305, 317, 364 P.3d 777 (2015) (holding warrant authorizing search of call phone was overbroad and violated particularity requirement because it permitted search for items for which there was no probable cause).

In *Carpenter*, the Supreme Court ruled that cell phone data reveals intimate detail of a person's movements over lengthy periods of time, as well as collecting detailed history of calls or texts made or received. 138 S. Ct. at 2217-18. The government may not search the extensive, private information from a person's cell phone usage without a properly issued judicial warrant resting on probable cause. *Id.* at 2221.

Carpenter undermines the prosecution's insistence that any subpoena, even without judicial permission or probable cause was needed, even though it also claimed it had probable cause. CP 45. The Court of Appeals properly faulted this approach.

The prosecution did not offer sworn testimony, in support of its subpoena, even though it is well-established that "the deputy prosecutor's assertions cannot support the court's determination of probable cause." *Garcia-Salgado*, 170 Wn.2d at 188. A sworn declaration is critical

because the reviewing court considers "only the information that was brought to the attention of the issuing judge or magistrate at the time the warrant was requested." *Id.* at 187, quoting *State v. Murray*, 110 Wn.2d 706, 709-10, 757 P.2d 487 (1988); *see also Kalina v. Fletcher*, 522 U.S. 118, 131, 118 S. Ct. 502, 139 L. Ed. 2d 471 (1997) ("the evidentiary component of an application for an arrest warrant is a distinct and essential predicate for a finding of probable cause.").

The requirements of a warrant enable the reviewing court to determine whether the State made material misrepresentations under *Franks v. Delaware*, 438 U.S. 154, 98 S. Ct. 2674, 57 L. Ed. 2d 667 (1978). The warrant application further enforces the requirements of particularity and non-speculative assertions that are necessary for a valid warrant. *State v. Thein*, 138 Wn.2d 133, 145-46, 977 P.2d 582 (1999); see, e.g., *Keodara*,191 Wn. App. at 317 (invalidating warrant for cell phone search as overbroad and insufficiently connected to specific evidence for which there was probable cause).

The subpoena process used in this case does not provide the protections of a warrant are required by article I, section 7. The Court of Appeals correctly rejected this subpoena because it failed to comply with the essential requirements of a warrant or valid exception to the warrant

requirement, and therefore did not provide the authority of law necessary to invade Mr. Philip's private affairs. The Court of Appeals applied settled precedent to rule that the authority of law to invade a person's private affairs must come from a judicially authorized order that meets the essential requirements of a warrant.

c. The prosecution's assertion that the Court of Appeals erred by quoting the United States Supreme Court decision in Carpenter is not a basis for granting review.

The prosecution does not assert the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *Carpenter*. But the petition for review complains that by quoting *Carpenter*, the Court of Appeals opinion "will sow confusion." Pet. for Rev. at 12. This illogical argument is not a basis for review.

In *Carpenter*, the Supreme Court held that requesting months of cell phone site data requires a warrant under the Fourth Amendment. 138 S. Ct. at 2214, 2221. Article I, section 7 is at least as protective as the Fourth Amendment. Should the State seek cell phone data without a warrant in the future, it will need to either get a warrant or prove that an exception to the warrant requirement applies. The Court of Appeals decision in this case enforces settled law.

In the trial court in this case, the prosecution's request for a subpoena repeatedly asserted that Mr. Phillip "does not have a privacy

interest" in his cell phone records, including location data or calls made and received. CP 45; CP 46 ("Phillip does not have a legitimate expectation of privacy" in any cell site location data his phone generated); CP 47 ("Phillip did not have a legitimate expectation of privacy in any of the information contained in AT&T's cell phone usage records" and they are not "private affairs" under article I, section 7).

The trial court's order granting the subpoena echoed the State's argument, and observed that Mr. Phillip could be viewed to have a lower expectation of privacy in information generated by his cell phone than other private affairs such as his apartment. CP 144.

Carpenter undermines the arguments the prosecution made in support of its subpoena. Even the State acknowledged it would have to "abandon" this argument after Carpenter. Brief of Respondent, p. 35 n. 7. The Court of Appeals accurately quoted Carpenter's holding when explaining errors made in the trial court.

The prosecution stretches the Court of Appeals opinion out of context in an effort to obtain this Court's review. The Court of Appeals did not say no person may ever obtain records by virtue of a subpoena. It ruled, as this Court ruled in *Garcia-Salgado*, court orders issued in any

criminal case must comply with the privacy protections the law requires. Slip op. at 15-16; *Garcia-Salgado*, 170 Wn.2d at 188-89; CrR 4.8(b)(5).

d. The factual basis for the order authorizing a search of a person's private affairs must rest on legitimately obtained information, as the Court of Appeals recognized.

The petition for review complains that the Court of Appeals added requirements to the specific information that a search warrant must contain. Petition at 15-16. This argument is not only contrary to settled law, but it rests on a fundamental misrepresentation of the circumstances in the case at bar.

Any warrant must be supported by probable cause and set out the scope of the authorized search with particularity. *Kentucky v. King*, 563 U.S. 452, 459, 131 S. Ct. 1849, 179 L. Ed. 2d 865 (2011); *State v. Besola*, 184 Wn.2d 605, 610, 614-15, 359 P.3d 799 (2015). This constitutional rule limits the authority to search to the specific areas and things for which there is probable cause to search, and ensures a search will be carefully tailored to its justifications. *Maryland v. Garrison*, 480 U.S. 79, 84, 107 S. Ct. 1013, 94 L. Ed. 2d 72 (1987).

The petition for review contends it was "obvious" that a person's cell phone data records could connect that person to a crime, so any time there is probable cause to suspect a person of the crime, there is probable

cause to search any data generated by a cell phone. Petition at 15. This argument is flawed because there is no finding of probable cause entitling the State to rummage through two months of Mr. Phillip's cell phone data. The trial court has not found probable cause based on untainted evidence, and this finding is mandatory under the independent source doctrine.

The prosecution is not permitted to search months of a person's cell phone data any time they suspect the person committed a crime.

Carpenter, 138 S. Ct. at 2217-18; CP 29 (prosecution requesting two months of cell phone data). The prosecution cites no authority for this proposition. Petition at 15-16. Carpenter expressly held that the Fourth Amendment forbids this rummaging without complying with the warrant requirement. Carpenter, 138 S. Ct. at 2221.

The prosecution's failure to cite any authority in support of its sweeping claims that the Court of Appeals erred by requiring a particularized showing of the basis for searching a month of a person's cell phone data, or requiring a court's subpoena explain the factual basis and legal limits of its ruling, is telling. It demonstrates there is no legal conflict and shows this claim does not meet the criteria for review. RAP 13.4(b).

e. The petition for review denigrates the Court of Appeals decision on false premises.

The Court of Appeals was not deciding this case in a vacuum, but the petition for review presents the legal issues in this case without the necessary context as where two search warrants have been ruled invalid. CP 117, 132.

The State is barred from using any illegally obtained information as the basis for authorizing an intrusion into a person's private affairs. This Court's recent decision in *Mayfield* underscores the narrow grounds under which the State may use illegally seized evidence to justify a further intrusion into a person's private affairs. 192 Wn.2d at 898-99.

To guard against violating the exclusionary rule, the prosecution bears the heavy burden of proving its request for illegally obtained private information was genuinely independent of the prior illegality. *Id.* at 898. Our state's attenuation doctrine mandates an "unforeseeable intervening act [that] genuinely severs the causal connection between the official misconduct and the discovery of the evidence." *Id.*

To satisfy the independent source doctrine, the prosecution must also establish that "information obtained" from the illegal search was not "presented to the magistrate and affected his decision to seek the warrant." *Murray v. United States*, 487 U.S. 533, 542, 108 S. Ct. 2529, 101 L. Ed.

2d 472 (1988). For example, in *Murray*, the police did not use their illegal observations to convince the judge to order a warrant. *Id.* at 535-36 ("In applying for the warrant, the agents did not mention the prior entry, and did not rely on any observations made during that entry."). The independent source doctrine requires the State to prove "whether the actual illegal search had any effect in producing the warrant." *Id.* at 542 n.3

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